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Maximum outstanding amount of €35,000,000  
BASE INFORMATION MEMORANDUM (DOCUMENTO BASE INFORMATIVO DE INCORPORACIÓN) FOR ADMISSION TO 
TRADING OF COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES (PAGARÉS) ON THE MERCADO ALTERNATIVO DE RENTA FIJA (MARF) 

I. GENERAL INFORMATION 

Sidenor Aceros Especiales, S.L.U. ("Sidenor", the "Company" or the "Issuer", and together with the entities of the group, the "Group"), 
a private limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Spain, with registered office at Barrio Ugarte s/n, 48970 Basauri, Bizkaia, 
Spain, registered with the Commercial Registry of Bizkaia at Volume 5462, Page 88, Sheet BI-64312, and with tax identification number 
B01292903 and LEI code 959800035N1AM1B6MN69, will apply for the admission (incorporación) to trading of commercial paper notes 
(the "Notes") to be issued under the "Commercial Paper Program SIDENOR 2025" (the "Program") in accordance with the provisions of 
this base information memorandum (Documento Base Informativo de Incorporación) (the "Information Memorandum") on the Spanish 
multilateral trading facility for debt securities (Mercado Alternativo de Renta Fija) (the "MARF").  

MARF is a multilateral trading facility (MTF) (sistema multilateral de negociación) established in Spain in accordance with article 68 of 
Law 6/2023, of 17 March, on the Securities Market and Investment Services (the "Securities Markets and Investment Services 
Law").Therefore, the MARF is not a regulated market in accordance with the provisions of Directive 2014/65/EU ("MiFID II"). This 
Information Memorandum has been prepared in compliance with Circular 1/2025, of 16 June, on the listing and delisting of securities in 
the MARF (the "Circular 1/2025"). 

The Notes will be represented by book entries and their accounting record will correspond to the Sociedad de Gestión de los Sistemas de 
Registro, Compensación y Liquidación de Valores, S.A.U. ("Iberclear"), together with its member entities (entidades participantes) (the 
"Iberclear Members"). 

An investment in the Notes involves certain risks. Section 1 includes a description of the risks related to the Issuer and the Notes. 

MARF has not carried out any verification or testing regarding the content of this Information Memorandum, its schedules, or with regard 
to the content of the documentation and information provided by the Issuer to the MARF in compliance with the Circular 1/2025. 

Sole Lead Arranger  

Kutxabank Investment, S.V., S.A. 

Placement Entities  

Banca March, S.A. JB Capital Markets, S.V., S.A.U. Kutxabank Investment, S.V., S.A. 

Registered Advisor 

Banca March, S.A. 

Paying Agent 

Banca March, S.A. 

27 November 2025 
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II. OTHER INFORMATION 

This Information Memorandum does not constitute a prospectus (folleto informativo) approved and registered 

with the Spanish Securities and Exchange Commission (Comisión Nacional del Mercado de Valores) (the 

"CNMV") or any other offering competent authority. The issuance of the Notes does not constitute a public 

offering subject to the obligation to publish a prospectus in accordance with the Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of 

the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 (the "Prospectus Regulation") and the Securities 

Markets and Investment Services Law, thereby exempting it from the obligation to approve, register, and publish a 

prospectus with the CNMV or any other competent authority. 

The Notes to be issued under the Program and listed on the MARF under this Information Memorandum will 

have a nominal value of €100,000 each. Any offer of Notes will be exclusively addressed to "qualified investors" 

as defined in article 2(e) of the Prospectus Regulation and articles 194 and 195 of the Securities Markets and 

Investment Services Law. Therefore, Sidenor will be exempted from approving, registering and publishing a 

prospectus with the CNMV for any offer of the Notes. 

SELLING RESTRICTIONS 

No action has been taken in any jurisdiction to permit a public offering of the Notes or the possession or 

distribution of the Information Memorandum or any other offering material in any country or jurisdiction where 

such action is required for said purpose. 

United States of America 

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended 

(the "Securities Act") and, subject to certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold within the United States. 

The Notes are being offered and sold outside of the United States in reliance on Regulation S of the Securities 

Act.  

Prohibition of sales to EEA retail investors / PRIIPS Regulation 

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold 

or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, 

a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of article 4(1) 

of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the "Insurance 

Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point 

(10) of article 4(1) of MiFID II. Consequently, no key information document (KID) required by Regulation 

(EU) No. 1286/2014 on key information documents for packaged and retail and insurance-based investment 

products (the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to 

retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making 

them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation. 

Prohibition of sales to UK retail investors / UK PRIIPS Regulation 

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold 

or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom (the "UK"). For these purposes, a 

retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of article 2 of 

Regulation (EU) No. 2017/565 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union 

(Withdrawal) Act of 2018 (the "EUWA"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the 

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to 

implement Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as 
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defined in point (8) of article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No. 600/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by 

virtue of the EUWA ("UK MiFIR"). Consequently, no key information document required by the Regulation 

(EU) No. 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") 

for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been 

prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor 

in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation. 

PRODUCT GOVERNANCE 

MiFID II / Professional investors and eligible counterparties only target market 

Solely for the purposes of the product approval process in respect of a particular issuance of Notes, the target 

market assessment in respect of any of the Notes to be issued under the Program has led to the conclusion that: 

(i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in 

MiFID II; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients 

are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should 

take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible 

for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the 

target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. 

UK MIFIR product governance / Professional investors and eligible counterparties only target 

market 

Solely for the purposes of product approval process in respect of a particular issuance of notes, the target market 

assessment in respect of any of the Notes to be issued under the Program has led to the conclusion that: (i) the 

target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in UK Financial Conduct Authority 

("FCA") Conduct of Business Sourcebook ("COBS"), and professional clients only, as defined in the UK 

MiFIR; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are 

appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should 

take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook 

Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook is responsible for undertaking its own target market 

assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining 

appropriate distribution channels. 

 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

The distribution of this Information Memorandum and the Notes may be restricted by law in some 

jurisdictions. Any person in possession of this Information Memorandum must be legally advised and 

comply with those restrictions. 

No action has been taken in any country, jurisdiction or territory to permit a public offering of the Notes 

except where a registration exemption is available. Therefore, the Notes cannot be offered or sold, directly 

or indirectly, nor this Information Memorandum or any offering material may be released, published or 

distributed, in or from any country, jurisdiction or territory, except in compliance with the regulations 

of the corresponding country, jurisdiction or territory. 

This Information Memorandum is not an offer for the sale of Notes nor a solicitation to purchase Notes 

and no offer of Notes in any country, jurisdiction or territory in which such offer or sale is considered 

contrary to applicable legislation shall be made. 

Prospective investors should fully and carefully read this Information Memorandum, including its annexes, 

prior to any investment decision regarding the Notes. Prospective investors should not base their investment 
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decision on information other than (i) the information contained in this Information Memorandum, including 

its annexes; and (ii) the public information of the Company available on the website of the Company 

(www.sidenor.com). 

 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Information Memorandum may include statements that are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking 

statements. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, all statements other than 

statements of historical facts contained in this Information Memorandum, including, without limitation, those 

regarding the Company's future financial position and results of operations, its strategy, plans, objectives, goals 

and targets, future developments in the markets in which the Company operates or are seeking to operate or 

anticipated regulatory changes in the markets in which the Company operates or intends to operate. These 

forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as "aim", "anticipate", "believe", 

"continue", "could", "estimate", "expect", "forecast", "guidance", "intend", "is likely to", "may", "plan", 

"potential", "predict", "projected", "should" or "will" or the negative of such terms or other similar expressions 

or terminology. 

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and 

depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Forward-looking statements speak only as of 

the date of this Information Memorandum and are not guarantees of future performance and are based on 

numerous assumptions. The Company's actual results of operations, financial condition and the development 

of events may differ materially from (and be more negative than) those made in, or suggested by, the forward-

looking statements. Except as required by applicable law (including Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the 

European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on market abuse) and the MARF regulations, the 

Company does not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or 

circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events or 

circumstances.  

Investors should read the section entitled "Risk Factors" of this Information Memorandum for a more complete 

discussion of the factors that could affect the Company or the Notes. 

The Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result 

of new information, future events or developments or otherwise. Should one or more of these risks or 

uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially 

from those described herein as anticipated, believed, estimated, expected or targeted. 

  

http://www.sidenor.com/
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BASE INFORMATION MEMORANDUM FOR ADMISSION TO TRADING OF 

COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES (PAGARÉS) 

IV. RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Notes involves a high degree of risk. Prospective investors in the Notes should 

carefully consider the risks described below and the other information contained in this Information 

Memorandum before investing in the Notes. There are two types of risks according to their nature: (i) risks 

relating to the Group's business and industry; and (ii) risks relating to the Notes. 

The Group believes that the following factors, individually or together, may affect its ability to fulfil its 

obligations under the Notes. Some of these factors are contingencies and the Group is not in a position to 

express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring or not occurring. 

In addition, factors which could be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated 

with the Notes are also described below. If any of the risks described below materialises, the Group's business, 

prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations, and accordingly the trading price of the 

Notes, may be materially adversely affected. If that were to happen, the trading price of the Notes may decline, 

or the Group may be unable to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with the Notes and 

investors may lose all or part of their investment. 

The Group believes that the factors described below represent the material risks inherent in investing in 

the Notes, but the Group's inability to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with the 

Notes or otherwise perform its obligations under the Notes may occur for other reasons which may not have 

been considered material risks by the Group based on information currently available to it or for reasons which 

it may not currently be able to anticipate. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set 

out elsewhere in this Information Memorandum and reach their own conclusions prior to making any 

investment decision. 

The order in which the risk factors are presented does not necessarily reflect the likelihood of their 

occurrence or the magnitude of their potential impact on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, 

cash flows, and results of operations or on the trading price of the Notes. 

Risks Relating to the Group's business and industry 

The Group operates in a cyclical industry and its financial performance is sensitive to adverse 

changes in the European and global economic conditions 

The global specialty steel industry is cyclical in nature. Demand and price for specialty steel products 

are sensitive to even small changes, both actual or in sentiment, of gross domestic product ("GDP") and 

industrial production growth and any such adverse changes may lead to a materially disproportionate 

corresponding decline in the Group's volumes sold. The specialty steel industry is affected by global and 

regional production capacity and fluctuations on steel imports and exports, which are themselves affected by 

the existence and amounts of tariffs and customer stocking and destocking cycles. It is more cyclical than GDP, 

which means that declines in volumes sold are typically larger than the corresponding decline in GDP and 

industrial production. GDP growth and industrial production growth are significant drivers of the end markets 

in which the Group's customers operate, in particular the automotive and transportation, other engineering, 

mining, oil & gas exploration and extraction equipment and power generation industries. Adverse changes in 

European and global macroeconomic conditions directly affect demand for specialty steel products, and 

therefore sales volumes, which are key drivers of the Group's results of operations. In the event of adverse 

economic conditions, the reduction in real demand for specialty steel (which is at the beginning of the value 

chain for the products produced in the Group's customers' end markets), is typically exacerbated by inventory 
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destocking throughout the supply chain as industry participants (including the Group's customers) look to 

preserve liquidity by reducing inventory. 

The ongoing military conflict between Russia and Ukraine initiated at the end of February 2022 and the 

implementation of sanctions that followed it have caused energy price rises, weakening consumer confidence 

and slower manufacturing as a result of persistent supply chain disruptions and rising input costs. In this context, 

the monetary authorities around the world embarked from 2022 on a forceful tightening of monetary conditions 

to fight against inflationary pressures which started to be gradually lifted in the second half of 2024, although 

financing conditions remain relatively restrictive and could continue to dampen industrial demand in 2025. 

Furthermore, the introduction of trade tariffs by the United States government from April 2025 threatens 

escalate into a broader global trade conflict which could potentially trigger a cycle of protectionist policies that 

hampers the free flow of international commerce. Such developments may drive up costs for both consumers 

and businesses, slow economic growth, and heighten volatility across global financial markets. Moreover, the 

use of tariffs can place additional strain on diplomatic relationships, increasing the likelihood of wider 

geopolitical challenges. Disruptions to global supply chains are also a concern, as companies may be compelled 

to seek alternative suppliers, resulting in operational inefficiencies and higher expenses. 

As of the date of this Information Memorandum, GDP growth in the euro area increased from 0.4% in 

2023 to 0.9% in 2024 and it is forecasted to pick up modestly to 1.2% in 2025 and to 1.1% in 2026, whilst GPD 

growth in Spain has increased from 2.7% in 2023 to 3.5% in 2024, and it is forecasted to slow down to 2.5% in 

2025 and to 1.8% in 2026 (source: International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook Growth Projections, 

October 2025). 

Also, external factors, such as continued political uncertainty, as well as other geopolitical uncertainties 

(such as the recent conflicts in the Middle East), and volatility in commodity prices could negatively affect the 

economic growth in Spain and in other European countries, which could in turn have a material adverse effect 

on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. 

The substantial majority of the Group's sales are concentrated in Spain and other EU countries 

(especially Germany, France and Italy). An economic decline in Spain, or in the EU or a protracted 

period of weak growth could have a material adverse effect on the Group 

Sales in Spain and other EU countries accounted for 47% and 50% of total sales of 2024, respectively. 

The Group's sales have been concentrated in Spain and other EU countries because of the proximity of these 

markets to its manufacturing plants in northern Spain (Cantabria, Basque Country and Catalonia regions), the 

advantages of a free trade space within the EU, and its long-established relationships with customers in these 

regions, as Sidenor also has commercial offices in Germany, France and Italy. These countries, along with 

Spain, represent between 85% and 90% of the total European specialty steel demand. The overall success of its 

operations, therefore, is closely tied to the economic prosperity and stability of Western Europe and the EU in 

particular. For instance, Spain is a car exporter country, which means that a relevant number of automobiles are 

produced in the Spanish market with Sidenor's steel and sold in other European countries. Any adverse event 

that may occur in any of these countries could have a direct negative impact on the Group's production and 

operations in its domestic market.  

The Group cannot easily diversify its geographical customer base because of the significant cost of 

shipping many of its products to other markets and because of the importance of close collaboration in 

engineering and flexible delivery times. Any significant decrease in demand for specialty steel products or 

decline in the base price of these products, particularly in the countries mentioned above, could result in 

significantly reduced profitability. 
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Both the Group and its customers continue to be vulnerable to economic downturns and protracted 

periods of weak growth in these economies. During such periods of weakness, the Group's customers could 

face significant difficulties, possibly leading to bankruptcy proceedings which could result in significantly 

reduced revenues, thereby adversely affecting the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows 

and results of operations. 

The specialty steel industry is highly competitive 

The Group faces significant competition, primarily based on quality, delivery performance and price. If 

it is unable to compete effectively, it may be unable to maintain or increase its market share or margins. The 

highly competitive nature of the Group's industry, combined with excess production capacity for some specialty 

steel products, has at times exerted downward pressure on prices of the Group's products. In 2025, prices 

remained stable, and although we expect prices to increase in 2026 due to the financial difficulties faced by 

certain competitors, it is possible that excess production capacity may exert downward pressure on prices. The 

Group's most significant competitors are mainly regional steel producers in Western Europe and select Eastern 

European mills. Since the economic downturn in 2008, the European specialty steel industry has suffered from 

production overcapacity in certain products, increasing competition amid reduced demand. A number of the 

Group's competitors are undergoing modernisation plans, which may improve the design, performance and 

efficiency of their products and their ability to develop new products or decrease their prices and the Group 

expects its competitors will continue to build on any advantages they have. 

Maintaining and expanding the Group's market position will require continued investment in, for 

example, product development, sales, marketing, and customer service and support, and it may not have 

sufficient resources to continue to make such investments. The Group's ability to compete effectively also 

depends to a significant extent on its continuous ability to manage its cost base and competitors may be more 

successful in achieving or maintaining a competitive cost base.  

Any failure by the Group to compete effectively could have a material adverse effect on the Group's 

business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

The raw materials and consumable products used in the Group's manufacturing processes are subject 

to price fluctuations and changes in availability which could increase its costs of goods sold 

Electricity is one of the main consumables used by the Group and in a lesser extent natural gas and fuel 

oil. Therefore, an increase of their price increases the costs of the Group.  

Prices for electricity, natural gas and fuel oil can fluctuate widely and affect the Group's production costs 

due to factors that impact supply and demand, at a global, regional or local level, such as weather, natural 

disasters, geopolitical instability, and regulatory changes or control by national authorities in the countries of 

production and/or distribution of energy commodities.  

Given the relevance of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine for global fuel, natural gas, and other 

energy sources, plus its impact on the already stressed global supply chains, the length and the intensity of the 

conflict can also affect the Group's energy and fuel expenses with attendant impacts on margins and in extreme 

cases production.  

During 2023, the market allowed sales price increases to partially offset the increase in energy prices 

through an energy surcharge, similar to the traditional scrap and alloys surcharge described below. Energy prices 

started to decrease in 2023 and continued to decrease in 2024 and the effect of such decease was passed on to 

our customers. Although energy prices remained stable during the first quarter of 2025, they have increased 

since the blackout occurred in Spain in April 2025 driven by higher costs related to adjustment services. If 

energy prices continue to increase as a result of the aforementioned circumstances or as a result of other 

geopolitical events, such as the conflict in the Middle East or the on-going trade tensions, this could significantly 
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affect the Group’s costs, potentially leading to suspension of production, and result in a material adverse impact 

on its business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects.  

The Group requires substantial amounts of raw materials. In 2023, the Group's total purchases of raw 

materials amounted to €540 million, whereas in 2024 it decreased to €461 million. The price and availability 

of its raw materials fluctuates depending on local and international supply and demand, due to, for example, 

interruptions in production and sourcing by suppliers, supplier allocation to other purchasers, concentration of 

the suppliers and increases in transportation costs. 

Scrap steel and alloy are the Group's principal raw materials the Group uses. The Group's scrap steel and 

alloy price pass-through mechanisms in customer contracts have an explicit raw material surcharge component, 

and it has generally been able to pass on increases in the prices of raw materials to its customers. The time the 

Group takes to produce a product (i.e. its internal process time) is typically longer than the contractually agreed 

reference period used to determine the average scrap and alloy prices used for the sale of the Group's products 

(i.e. contractually agreed surcharge reference period). Synchronizing the internal process time and the 

contractually agreed surcharge reference period is important because it allows the Group to manage its exposure 

to fluctuations in the price of scrap and alloy. More specifically, in periods of falling scrap and alloy prices and 

if the contractually agreed surcharge reference period is shorter than the Group's internal process time, it may 

have to purchase scrap and alloy at higher costs that it may not be able to fully pass on to its customers. 

Therefore, periods of falling scrap prices have a negative impact on Sidenor's margins and benefits, an effect 

which is called the "inertia effect" (the “Inertia Effect”). The Inertia Effect reduces cash flow swings following 

changes in scrap prices. EBITDA variations are partially counteracted in the cash flow by the working capital. 

For example, when the scrap price trend is negative, margins deteriorate generating lower EBITDAs. 

Conversely, the decrease in the price of scrap shrinks the value of inventories and accounts receivables, leading 

to a cut in working capital that will have a positive impact on the calculation of cash flow, which will partially 

offset the reduction in EBITDA. The impact will be opposite in the case of increases in the price of scrap. 

Notwithstanding the above, in the automotive industry the cost of steel is not very significant over the total cost 

of the end products. 

The Group's inability to secure adequate raw materials and consumable goods at commercially 

reasonable prices could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations 

and future prospects. Any significant change in the prices or supply of the raw materials and consumable goods 

used in the Group's manufacturing processes, or in its general ability to pass through such costs to customers, 

could have a material adverse effect on its business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of 

operations.  

The Group is significantly dependent on its customers end markets, in particular the automotive, 

mechanical engineering, and energy (oil & gas) end markets 

Since the Group is at the beginning of the supply chain, it is highly dependent on demand in the end 

markets in which its customers operate, mainly the automotive, mechanical engineering, and energy end 

markets. These markets are cyclical and, as a result, so is the specialty steel industry.  

In the special steels industry, the automobile sector (including cars and lorries) receives 55-60% of the 

tonnes sold. The other 40-45% is mainly divided between the energy (wind, oil and gas) sectors, equipment 

manufacturing, mechanical engineering, railway and mining. 

Although the negative impact of Covid-19 pandemic on the Group's end markets was significant during 

2020, years 2021 and 2022 showed a great recovery due to an increase in the automotive sector's demand with 

record sales and EBITDA driven by the increase of prices and the energy surcharges applied to sales.  
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However, the situation of key European industries, including automotive, is uncertain due to weak 

external demand, competition of Asian automobile manufacturers, tight financing conditions, and elevated trade 

policy uncertainty, which could reduce volumes and delay programs. 

In particular, the ongoing global tariff war could adversely affect Sidenor’s customers ability to export 

to the United States. Increased trade barriers and reduced access to the United States market could lead to lower 

production volumes by the Group’s customers, which, in turn, may result in decreased demand for the Group’s 

products. 

A decline in the demand in these Group's end markets may have a material adverse effect on its business, 

prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. 

The Group derives a significant percentage of its consolidated revenue from a limited number of major 

customers 

In 2024, Sidenor's top 5 clients accounted for 27% of total sales, and its top 20 clients represented 53% 

of total sales. However, no customer accounted for more than 9% of total revenue in 2024. Most customers are 

not required to purchase a fixed number of products or services over a given period and could decide to 

terminate their contracts, not renew them, or renew them on terms that, particularly with respect to the pricing, 

are less favourable for Sidenor. The loss of one or more of Sidenor's major customers could have a significant 

adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

The Group has a significant cost base at any level of production 

At any level of production at which the Group has the ability to operate, it has a high cost as a proportion 

of its net sales. In the medium to long term the Group is able to adjust its level of production to reduce the cost 

base, however in the short term, it does not have such flexibility.  

A large part of the Group's cost base is fixed, such as the majority of the employee related costs. The 

monthly average number of employees in September 2025 was 1,859 employees. The cost of personnel is high, 

and if the Group is unable to substantially reduce its cost base to offset a decline in sales volumes, it will have 

a material adverse impact on its profitability. Any decrease in profitability could have a material adverse effect 

on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

Technical failures, outages and other interruptions of manufacturing equipment or operating systems 

as well as distribution disruptions could materially impact the Group's operations 

When business conditions permit, the Group operates its production plants at levels at or near capacity. 

High levels of production are important to the Group's financial results because they enable the Group to spread 

its fixed costs, over a greater number of tonnes. Plant outages or equipment failures requiring significant time 

and resources to repair, as well as the occurrence of adverse events, such as fires or explosions, could affect the 

Group's manufacturing equipment, particularly under circumstances where it lacks adequate redundant 

facilities. Furthermore, any future production stops may not be covered by insurance. The Group may also not 

be able to compensate for loss of production at one plant in the case of a technical failure, outage or other 

equipment interruption by shifting production to another plant. 

The distribution of the Group's products is also subject to risks which are outside the Group's control. 

The Group is exposed to the risk of further disruptions to supply and distribution routes through transport, union 

action and natural disasters affecting its operations. 

In addition, the occurrence of natural or man-made disasters, adverse weather conditions, environmental 

or safety incidents or similar events or circumstances could significantly disrupt operations, negatively impact 
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the operations of other companies or contractors the Group depend upon in its operations, or adversely affect 

customers or markets to which the Group sells its products.  

The performance of the Group's business is significantly dependent on its ability to maintain high 

quality standards in the manufacture of its products 

The specialty steel market is characterised by highly specific technical requirements, such as levels of 

elasticity, strength, ductility, toughness and fatigue resistance. The Group's products are used in performance-

critical end-use products. A significant portion of products are subject to severe environments in their end-use 

and subject to high performance requirements, such as high temperatures, exposure to hazardous substances, 

high speed and continuous pressure. The performance, quality and safety of these products are critical to the 

success of the Group's business. These characteristics depend significantly on the effectiveness of quality 

control systems, which in turn depend on a number of factors, including the design of the systems and the 

Group's ability to ensure that personnel adhere to quality control guidelines and policies. Any significant failure 

or deterioration of the Group's quality control systems could result in the failure of its products. Failure or the 

perceived failure of the Group's products to meet the required precise technical specifications could lead to 

significant expense for its customers, and result in product recalls, product liability claims or other significant 

costs to it. 

In order to operate its business successfully, the Group must meet evolving customer requirements for 

specialty steel products and invest in the development of new products 

If the Group fails to develop or enhance its products to satisfy evolving customer demands, its business, 

operating results, financial condition and prospects may be harmed at some level. The market for specialty steel 

products is characterised by periodic new product introductions, certification requirements and evolving 

customer and industry standards that are each generally driven by technological advances. A lack of new product 

development would not mean the Group could not keep working, but its customers are continuously adapting 

to changing technologies and in turn, it must effectively and timely anticipate and adapt to customer 

requirements and offer products and services that meet customer demands. The Group's competitors are doing 

the same and may be able to produce more cost-effective products or substitutes for specialty steel products. 

The Group's strategy may require that it at times expands its product and service offering through 

acquisitions, joint ventures or strategic alliances and incur additional costs related to steel grade and process 

customisation and innovation, which despite substantial costs may not lead to the development of a product that 

meets customer demands. Despite the Group's best efforts and substantial costs, it may experience design, 

engineering and other difficulties that could delay or prevent the development, introduction or marketing of 

new products and services.  

Due to the fact that the Group sells products to various manufacturers engaged in manufacturing and 

selling a wide range of end products, the Group's products are also sold to, and used in, certain safety-critical 

applications, for instance. There could be significant consequential damages resulting from the use of or defects 

in such products. The group has limited amount of product liability insurance coverage, and a major claim for 

damages related to Sidenor products sold and, as the case may be, advice given in connection with such products 

could leave Group uninsured against a portion or the entirety of the award and, as a result, materially harm its 

financial condition and future operating results. 

Any failure to deliver the Group's products on time due to production stoppages, capacity constraints or 

distribution issues could damage the Group's reputation for timely service and customers may decide to change 

supplier where available. Any such damage to the Group's reputation or loss of customers could have a material 

adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. 
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The Group's business depends on good relations with its employees. A breakdown in these relations or 

stricter labour laws, as well as increasing costs of skilled labour, could have a material adverse impact 

on the Group 

Labour law in the countries where the Group operates provide a high level of protection to employees. 

Furthermore, most of the Group's employees are members of labour unions and, accordingly, the Group is party 

to agreements with trade unions at its production plants. However, there can be no assurance that the Group's 

agreements with trade unions will prevent strikes or work stoppages at any of its facilities, or that those 

agreements will be renewed on substantially similar terms and conditions in the future. In many cases, the 

Group has a legal obligation to consult with its employees, their representative bodies or trade unions on 

strategic and operational business decisions. These labour laws and consultation procedures might limit the 

Group's flexibility to pursue new obligations or technologies, its ability to react in rapidly changing market 

conditions and its capacity to reduce its workforce if necessary. Failure by the Group to comply with such labour 

laws and consultation procedures could be held to be illegal and result in financial penalties. 

Although, the latest collective bargaining agreement was signed on 14 February 2022 (but with effects 

from 1 January 2022) and will be in force until 31 December 2026, any future work stoppages, disputes with 

employee unions or other labour-related developments or disputes, including renegotiation of agreements with 

unions, could result in a decrease in the Group's production levels and adverse publicity and an increase in 

costs. The consequences of these events could have a material impact on the Group's business, prospects, 

financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

The inability to hire or retain key members of its management team or other key employees may have 

an adverse effect on the Group's operating results  

The Group's success depends and will continue to depend, in part, on the efforts of its senior management 

and other key employees. These individuals possess skills that are critical to the operation of the Group's 

business. Additionally, given the specialised nature of the Group's business and the highly technological 

manufacturing processes it uses, the Group's employees require specific technical training. The majority of 

employment contracts for our key employees do not include non-compete clauses or long notice periods, and 

accordingly the Group may lose key employees at short notice and have difficulties replacing them within the 

notice period with equally experienced personnel or at all. This may lead to prolonged periods where key 

positions in the Group are occupied by inexperienced employees or are empty. The loss or an extended 

interruption in the services of one or more of the senior management or other key employees, including key 

members of the sales force or the failure to attract and retain suitably skilled personnel could have a material 

adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. 

The Group's operations imply risk of injury or death. Health and safety laws, regulations and other 

legislation may increase the Group's costs of doing business, restrict operations, or result in the 

application of fines, revocation of permits and shutdown of the Group's facilities 

The Group is required to comply with occupational health and safety laws and regulations. These laws 

and regulations usually govern, among others, workplace conditions, worker training, use of safety equipment, 

workers insurance coverage, and the handling, storage and disposal of, and exposure to, hazardous substances.  

The manufacture and distribution of the Group's products is an inherently dangerous activity which 

involves substantial risks and the Group's workers are subject to accidents, some of which may result in injuries 

or death. The Group may not at all times be in full compliance with the laws and regulations applicable. Any 

violation of such laws or regulations could result in lengthy investigations, substantial fines, criminal sanctions, 

temporary or permanent shutdown of the affected operations or facilities, the suspension or revocation of 

authorisations, permits or licences, a decline in worker motivation and damage to the Group's reputation. 
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Despite the Group's efforts to monitor and reduce accidents at its facilities, health and safety incidents 

do occur, some of which may result in the death of a worker in addition to costs, liabilities and a negative impact 

on worker motivation and the Group's reputation or the operations of the affected plant. Such accidents could 

include explosions, gas leaks, fires, exposure to potentially hazardous materials or other accidents. Some of the 

Group's industrial activities may involve the use, storage and transport of hazardous substances and the Group 

is therefore subject to the risk of industrial accidents which could have significant adverse consequences for its 

workers and facilities, as well as the environment. Such accidents could lead to production stoppages, loss of 

key personnel, the loss of key assets, or put the Group's workers at risk or persons living near affected sites, all 

of which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows 

and results of operations. 

The Group is subject to increasingly stringent environmental rules and regulations, which may 

significantly increase its compliance costs and require substantial investments and under which it can 

incur significant liabilities  

Due to the nature of the Group's operations, it is subject to extensive laws, regulations, directives and 

permitting obligations of several jurisdictions relating to the protection of the environment and health and safety 

matters. As a result, it incurs and expects to continue to incur significant costs complying with these 

requirements. Changes in application or scope of environmental requirements applicable to the Group also 

could have a significant adverse impact. The Group's operations generate significant amounts of pollutants and 

waste, some of which are hazardous. The Group also use hazardous compounds in its production processes. 

The Group is obliged to investigate and clean up environmental contamination on or from its properties and to 

comply with stringent waste management regulations, particularly in relation to hazardous waste. The Group is 

also required to obtain and comply with environmental permits, authorisations and licences in connection with 

its operations, and these permits are subject to modification and renewal by issuing authorities. There can be 

no assurance that the Group will at all times be able to operate in compliance with these laws, regulations and 

permits, or prevent or limit air and water waste emissions in accordance with law. Failure to comply with 

environmental rules and regulations can result in the imposition of civil and criminal penalties, the suspension 

of permits, requirements to curtail or suspend operations, and lawsuits by third parties. In addition, the failure 

to renew the Group's permits, authorisations and licences in a timely manner or at all could lead to required 

plant shutdowns.  

There is a global trend towards stricter environmental controls and the Group anticipates that this trend 

will continue. Compliance with future laws or regulations, the imposition of more stringent requirements for 

licences, permits and authorisations and stricter or new interpretation of existing environmental laws and 

regulations may require the Group to make additional capital expenditures, modify its operating practices, pay 

fines for breaches of such laws or regulations, and carry out additional reporting obligations.  

Costs related to the Group's compliance with environmental laws and potential obligations with respect 

to contaminated sites are often difficult to accurately predict and may have a significant negative impact on 

operating results. The Group's compliance with environmental requirements necessitates a commitment of 

significant financial resources, including environmental compliance expenses. The imposition of liabilities 

pursuant to environmental laws and regulations, including as a result of violations of such laws and regulations 

or required permits and claims by third parties for property damage or personal injury, or required operating 

changes resulting from such rules, could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business prospects, 

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The environmental rules and regulations applicable to 

the Group could also place it at a competitive disadvantage in relation to specialty steel producers located 

outside of the EU.  
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Laws and regulations restricting emissions of greenhouse gases could force the Group to incur 

increased capital and operating costs and could have a material adverse effect on the Group 

Compliance with new and more stringent environmental obligations relating to greenhouse gas 

emissions may require additional capital expenditures or modifications in operating practices, as well as 

additional reporting obligations. The integrated steel process involves carbon and creates carbon dioxide 

("CO2"), which distinguishes integrated steel producers from mini-mills and many other industries where CO2 

generating is primarily linked to energy use. 

In December 2015, the 195 countries participating in the United Nations Framework Convention on 

Climate Change reached an international agreement (the "Paris Agreement"), which replaced the Kyoto 

Protocol, in force since 16 February 2005. All these participating countries agreed to implement the necessary 

drivers to achieve drastic reductions of carbon emissions. The Group has a strong commitment to reduce its 

carbon emissions (the objective is to be carbon neutral by 2050) and is carrying out different actions by 

developing research and different programs, investigating its technical possibilities to reduce emissions. 

Such regulations could also have a negative effect on the Group's suppliers and customers, which could 

result in higher costs and lower sales. Moreover, the EU Commission's decision to further reduce the allocation 

of CO2 emission rights to companies could negatively impact the global industry, as the amount of such rights 

is currently at the edge of covering technically achievable operating conditions. The EU Emissions Trading 

System (EU ETS) for 2026-2030 involves a tightened cap to reduce emissions and free allocation will be scaled 

down and made conditional on companies' decarbonization efforts. The EU greenhouse gas regulations and its 

emissions trading system for the period after 2026 may have required the Group to incur additional cost to 

acquire emissions allowances. However, the EU has accepted that the surplus CO2 allowances from the 

previous period can be used in the period 2026-2030. Therefore, as the Group has a large surplus of allowances, 

it will not be in the need to buy any more allowances in the incoming years. 

Adverse results in material litigation may significantly endanger the Group's ability to run its business 

The Group has been involved, and may be involved in the future, in legal proceedings arising in the 

ordinary course of business. In the case of employee-related matters, these claims include wrongful termination 

and employment-related injuries, among other claims. Customer-related claims include claims related to 

performance and quality of the Group's products, among other claims. 

Any future proceedings may result in substantial monetary damages, damage to the Group's reputation 

and decreased demand for its products, all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, 

prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

The insurance that the Group maintains may not fully cover all potential exposures and may not be 

available to it on commercially acceptable terms, if at all available.  

The Group maintains customary insurance with respect to property, casualty and products liability, and 

other matters, but such insurance may not cover all risks associated with the hazards of the Group's business 

and is subject to limitations, including deductibles and maximum liabilities covered. The Group may incur 

losses beyond the limits, or outside the coverage, of its insurance policies, including liabilities for environmental 

compliance or remediation. Furthermore, a failure to inadvertently comply with policies requirements may lead 

to claims not being covered. There can be no assurance that any insurance would be available on a timely basis 

or adequate to completely reimburse the Group's losses that it might sustain. In the future, the Group may not 

be able to obtain coverage at current levels, if at all, and its premiums may increase significantly on the coverage 

that it maintains. The Group's products are used in safety-critical applications involving intense end-use 

conditions and high-performance requirements, such as in the automotive and transportation industry. If the 

Group's products fail and cause injury or death to customers or third parties, it may be subject to significant 
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money damages. The Group has product liability insurance coverage, which may not be sufficient to cover all 

or any money damages. Accordingly, a major claim or a series of smaller claims for damages related to the 

Group's products sold or customised steel grades, or advice given to customers in connection with products 

sold, may not be fully covered by insurance, or may not be covered by insurance at all. 

Any insurance claims present a risk of protracted litigation, substantial money damages, reputational 

damages, attorneys' fees, costs and expenses and diversion of management's attention from the operation of the 

Group's business, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, prospects, financial condition, 

cash flows and results of operations. 

Future acquisitions, investments or divestitures may not have the expected beneficial effect on the 

Group's business 

As part of the Group's strategy it may pursue acquisitions, investments, divestitures or strategic alliances 

in the future, which may not be completed or, if completed, may not ultimately be beneficial to the Group. 

There are numerous risks commonly encountered in business combinations, including the risk that the Group 

may not be able to complete a transaction that has been announced, effectively integrate and operate businesses 

acquired, assume unanticipated liabilities or generate the cost savings and synergies anticipated. Such failures 

could have a material adverse effect on the Group's financial results. In addition, the process of pursuing such 

transactions, whether or not consummated, may divert management's attention from the day-to-day operation 

of the Group's business, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and 

financial condition. 

To the extent Sidenor continues to pursue significant acquisitions, financing of such acquisitions may 

result in increased debt, leverage and gearing. Managing acquisitions requires the continued development of 

Sidenor's financial and management information control systems, the integration of acquired assets with 

existing operations, the adoption of manufacturing best practices, handling any labour disruptions that may 

arise, attracting and retaining qualified management and personnel.  

Risk in relation to the compliance of the financial covenants and early termination and acceleration 

clauses in other financings 

The Group has been carrying out a significant process of reorganization of its outstanding debt in order 

to adapt the amortization calendar to the estimated cash flow generation capacities in the next years, according 

to the strategic plan of the Group.  

As at 31 December 2024 the financial debt of the Group amounted to €68 million.  

In July 2019, Sidenor signed a loan with the European Investment Bank (EIB) for an amount of €50 

million (the “EIB Loan”), which is the only financial debt of the Group that currently includes covenants. Such 

covenants deal with: (i) maintenance of Net Financial Indebtedness to EBITDA Ratio; (ii) maintenance of 

EBITDA to Net Finance Expenses Ratio; (iii) limitation on Distributions; (iv) limitations on Sales of Assets; 

(v) limitations on Affiliate Transactions; (vi) Certificates; and (vii) Notices. As of the date of this Information 

Memorandum, the outstanding amount to be repaid under the EIB loan is €10 million. 

The Group's future ability to comply with the financial covenants and other conditions of the EIB Loan 

depends on future business performance that is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors. 

While it is expected that, if the Company does not comply with the financial covenant in the EIB Loan in the 

future, they would enter into negotiations with the EIB to obtain a waiver for such non-compliance, there can 

be no assurance that the Group will obtain such result. If a financial covenant of the EIB Loan is breached in 

the future and the Group does not obtain the relevant waiver, this could trigger cross defaults in the rest of its 

financial indebtedness and would have a material adverse effect on its liquidity position, which could have a 



 

3215049460 16 

material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of 

operations. 

The Group is subject to interest rate risk 

The Group's cash and financial debt (including the credit facility) are exposed to interest rate risk. To 

minimise this risk, the Group analyses its exposure to fixed and variable interest rates, adopting a corporate 

policy that aims to keep these two types of interest rate in balanced proportion. As of 30 September 2025, 27% 

of the financial debt from credit institutions is indexed to fixed interest rates (compared to 36% as of 31 

December 2024). The rest is tied essentially to changes in the Euribor rate. 

The Group is subject to liquidity risk 

The Group manages its capital structure through the control of its Debt-Equity ratio, based on its internal 

policies and market references. The main indicators in relation with this risk are NFD/EBITDA, Interest 

Coverage ratio and Debt-Equity ratio. The Group may alter its structure as a result of the economic and financial 

conditions in order to enhance the financial management. 

The Group manages liquidity risk prudently by ensuring that is has sufficient cash and marketable 

securities and by arranging committed credit facilities for amounts sufficient to cater for its projected 

requirements. The Group uses non-recourse factoring or other similar instruments to maintain the liquidity 

levels and working capital structure required under its business plan. The liquidity risk of the business is 

managed through tight control over working capital, avoidance of excessive concentration of risk in any single 

financial institution and permanent monitoring of gearing ratios and cash flow generation.  

However, as recent experience has evidenced, financial markets can be subject to periods of volatility 

and shortages of liquidity. If the Group is unable to access the capital markets or other sources of finance at 

competitive rates for a prolonged period, its cost of financing may increase, and its strategy may need to be 

reassessed. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition 

and results of operations. 

The Group is subject to credit risks that could have a material adverse effect on its results and financial 

position 

The Group is subject to credit risk on financial assets whose non-recovery could adversely affect the 

Group's results and financial position.  

The Group generally keeps its cash and cash equivalents in financial institutions with high credit ratings. 

Regarding the credit risk from its commercial transactions, the Group analyses the financial and asset situation 

of its customers, establishing a credit limit and tracking balances owed. A portion of its receivables from 

customers are also guaranteed through credit insurance. Credit risk is not significantly concentrated in third 

parties. In general, credit insurance policies have a coverage of between 80% and 90% of the risk insured.  

As a matter of policy, the Group also covers credit risk by non-recourse factoring.  

The Group is owned by Mr José Antonio Jainaga Gómez and his interests as equity holder may conflict 

with those of the Noteholders 

The sole shareholder of the Issuer is Sidenor Holdings Europa, S.A.U., which is indirectly controlled by 

Mr. José Antonio Jainaga Gómez. The interests of Sidenor's shareholders may not always be aligned with those 

of the Noteholders. For example, the Group's equity holders may have an interest in pursuing acquisitions, 

divestitures, financings or other transactions, that, in their judgment, could enhance their equity investment, 

even though these transactions might involve risks to the Noteholders if the transactions resulted in the Group 

being more highly leveraged or if they significantly changed the nature of its business operations or strategy. In 
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addition, if the Group encounters financial difficulties, or if it is unable to pay its debts as they mature, the 

interests of its equity holders might conflict with those of the Noteholders. In that situation, for example, 

Noteholders might want the Group to raise additional equity to reduce its leverage and pay its debts, while its 

equity holders might not want to increase their investment in the Group or have their ownership diluted and 

instead choose to take other actions, such as selling the Group's assets. 

Furthermore, Sidenor's shareholders have no continuing obligation to provide the Group with debt or 

equity financing. Likewise, if Sidenor's shareholders pursue acquisitions in the steel industry on a separate 

basis, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to the Group. As long as the shareholders continue 

to directly and indirectly control the Group, they may continue to be able to strongly influence or effectively 

control its business decisions. 

The Group's failure to protect its intellectual property could adversely affect its business and results 

Risks related to intellectual property primarily arise from disputes by third parties against the Group, 

appropriation of its technologies by its competitors, or fraudulent use of its trademarks by third parties. If the 

Group is unable to successfully protect, maintain and defend its intellectual property, the Group would risk 

losing a portion of its technological edge, customers and income sources, and any such loss could have a 

significant adverse effect on its results and image. The laws and regulations as well as the judicial systems in 

some countries the Group operates may not provide effective protection or means to combat counterfeiting. 

Even in countries with relative strong protections for intellectual property, Sidenor may face such risks. 

Sidenor is increasingly dependent on information technology systems that may fail, may not be 

adequate to the tasks at hand or may no longer be available  

Sidenor is increasingly dependent on highly sophisticated information technology, or IT, systems. IT 

systems are vulnerable to a number of problems, such as software or hardware malfunctions, malicious hacking, 

physical damage to vital IT centres and computer viruses. IT systems need regular upgrading, and the Group 

may not be able to implement necessary upgrades on a timely basis or upgrades may fail to function as planned. 

Furthermore, failure to protect its operations from cyber-attacks or inappropriate use of Sidenor's information 

technology systems, could result in the loss of customer or project data or other sensitive information. The 

threats are increasingly sophisticated and there can be no assurance that Sidenor will be able to protect itself 

against all threats. The Group may incur significant costs as a result of any failure of its IT systems. The Group 

cannot assure the Noteholders that the back-up systems it maintains to provide high-level service availability 

and ensure business continuity will protect it. Should these systems fail or prove to be inadequate, or any 

resulting loss of confidential or proprietary data, could materially and adversely affect Sidenor's reputation, 

expose it to legal claims and materially adversely affect its business, results of operations, financial condition 

and prospects.  

Risks relating to the Notes  

As the Notes are registered with Iberclear, investors will have to rely on their procedures for transfer, 

payment and communication with the Issuer 

The Notes are in dematerialised form and are registered with Iberclear. Consequently, no physical notes 

have been or will be issued. Clearing and settlement relating to the Notes, as well as payment of interest and 

redemption of principal amounts, will be performed within Iberclear's account-based system. The investors are 

therefore dependent on the functionality of Iberclear's account-based system. 

Title to the Notes is evidenced by book entries, and each person shown in the Spanish Central Registry 

managed by Iberclear and in the registries maintained by the respective Iberclear Members as having an interest 
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in the Notes shall be (except as otherwise required by Spanish law) considered the holder of the principal 

amount of the Notes recorded therein. 

The Issuer will discharge its payment obligation under the terms and conditions of the Notes (the 

"Conditions") by making payments through Iberclear. Noteholders must rely on the procedures of Iberclear 

and its participants to receive payments. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, 

or payments made in respect of, holders of the Notes according to book entries and registries as described in 

the previous paragraph. In addition, the Issuer has no responsibility for the proper performance by Iberclear or 

its participants of its obligations under their respective rules and operating procedures. 

The Group's ability to service its debt will depend on certain financial, business and other factors, many 

of which are beyond the Group's control 

The Group's ability to service its debt, including the Notes, will depend upon, among other things, its 

future financial and operating performance, which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions and 

financial, business, regulatory and other factors, many of which are beyond the Group's control. If the Group is 

unable to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy its debt service requirements, it may be forced to take actions 

such as: 

 restructuring or refinancing its debt, including the Notes; 

 seeking additional debt or equity capital; 

 seeking bankruptcy protection; 

 reducing distributions; 

 reducing or delaying the Group's business activities, acquisitions, investments or capital 

expenditures; or 

 selling assets. 

Such measures might not be successful and might not enable the Issuer to service its debt. In addition, 

any such financing, refinancing or sale of assets might not be available or economically favourable. Further, 

the Group's credit agreements and/or the Notes may restrict the Group's ability to implement some of these 

measures. 

The Notes price could be volatile and subject to sudden and significant declines 

The market price of the Notes may be volatile. Factors beyond the Issuer's control, such as changes in 

the results of operations and the financial position of the Issuer's competitors, negative publicity, or changes in 

financial market conditions, may have a significant effect on the market price of the Issuer's Notes. In addition, 

during the past years, the markets in Spain and worldwide have experienced significant volatility in prices and 

trading volumes. This volatility could have a negative impact on the market price of the Notes, regardless of 

the Issuer's financial position and the results of its operations. 

The Notes are new securities which may not be widely distributed and for which there is currently no 

active trading market. If the Notes are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount from their 

initial offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, general 

economic conditions and the financial condition of the Issuer. Although application will be made for the Notes 

to be admitted to listing and to trading on the MARF, there is no assurance that such application will be accepted 

or that an active trading market will develop. Accordingly, there is no assurance as to the development or 

liquidity of any trading market for the Notes. 
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The Notes will not be rated 

The Notes will not be rated. To the extent that any credit rating agencies assign credit ratings to the 

Notes, such ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors 

discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A rating or the absence of a rating is 

not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. 

Noteholders in countries with currencies other than the euro will be exposed to exchange rate risks 

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in Euros. This presents certain risks relating to 

currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency 

unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than Euros. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly 

change (including changes due to devaluation of the Euro or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk 

that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An 

appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Euro would decrease (i) the Investor's 

Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the principal payable 

on the Notes and (iii) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes. 

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls 

that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or 

principal than expected, or no interest or principal. 

Risks Relating to the Insolvency Law. 

Royal Legislative Decree 1/2020, of 5 May, which approves the consolidated text of Insolvency Law 

(Real Decreto Legislativo 1/2020, de 5 de mayo, por el que se aprueba el texto refundido de la Ley Concursal) 

(the "Insolvency Law") provides, among other things, that: (i) any claim may become subordinated if it is not 

reported to the insolvency administrators (administradores concursales) within one month from the last official 

publication of the court order declaring the insolvency, (ii) provisions in a contract granting one party the right 

to modify the obligations or suspend or terminate the contract by reason only of the other's insolvency 

declaration or opening of the liquidation phase may not be enforceable, and (iii) accrual of unsecured interest 

(whether ordinary or default interest) shall be suspended from the date of the declaration of insolvency and any 

amount of interest accrued up to such date shall become subordinated. In the case of secured ordinary interest, 

(i) this shall be deemed specially privileged and (ii) ordinary interest (excluding default interest) will continue 

accruing after the declaration of insolvency up to the limit of the secured amount, and only if a contingent credit 

for secured ordinary interest that may accrue after the declaration of insolvency is included in the statement of 

claim to be sent to the insolvency administrator (as per the Supreme Court judgment dated 20 February 2019).  

The Insolvency Law, in certain instances, also has the effect of modifying or impairing creditors' rights 

even if the creditor, whether secured or unsecured, does not consent to the amendment. The claims of secured 

and unsecured dissenting creditors may be written down not only once the insolvency has been declared by the 

judge as a result of the approval of a creditors' agreement (convenio concursal), but also as a result of an out-

of-court restructuring plan (plan de reestructuración pre-concursal) without insolvency proceedings having 

been previously opened (e.g., restructuring plans that satisfy certain requirements and are approved by the 

judge), in both scenarios (i) to the extent that certain qualified majorities are achieved and (ii) unless some 

exceptions in relation to the kind of claim or creditor apply (which would not be the case for the Notes). 

In no case will subordinated creditors be entitled to voluntarily accede to a creditors' agreement during 

the insolvency proceedings and, accordingly, they will always be subject to the measures contained therein, if 

passed. 

V. INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER  
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1. Issuer 

(a) Corporate name, Tax Identification Number (NIF) and Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) code 

The corporate name of the Issuer is Sidenor Aceros Especiales, S.L.U., and with tax identification number 

B01292903 and LEI code 959800035N1AM1B6MN69.  

(b) Corporate address and Commercial Registry data 

The Issuer's registered office is located at Barrio Ugarte s/n, 48970 Basauri, Bizkaia, Spain and it is 

registered with the Commercial Registry of Bizkaia at Volume 5462, Page 88, Sheet BI-64312. 

(c) Shareholding distribution 

Sidenor is fully owned by Sidenor Holdings Europa, S.A.U., which is indirectly controlled by Mr. José 

Antonio Jainaga Gómez. 

(d) Corporate purpose 

Manufacture and commercialisation of all types of steel materials and products. Wholesale trade of scrap, 

waste, and residues of all kinds of metals.  

(e) Main activities  

Sidenor's industry is special or engineering steel, which consists of the manufacturing of steel products 

for special engineering purposes. Sidenor produces a wide range of special and engineering steel products which 

can be applied in a variety of end markets. The engineering steel market is characterised by highly specific 

technical requirements, such as levels of elasticity, strength, ductility, toughness and fatigue resistance. 

Sidenor's products are used in performance-critical end use products. A significant portion of products are 

subject to severe environments in their end-use and to high performance requirements, such as high 

temperatures, exposure to hazardous substances, high speed and continuous pressure.  

Sidenor's steel production capacity is approximately 900,000 tonnes annually through six manufacturing 

facilities in Spain: one in Cantabria, four in the Basque Country and one in Catalonia. Sidenor has also 

commercial offices in Germany (Düsseldorf), France (Lille and St Pierre en Faucigny), Italy (Brescia) and the 

UK (London). Sidenor's average headcount in 2024 was 1,863 workers.  

Sidenor's principal markets are Spain, which represented 47% of its total sales in 2024, the EU 

(excluding Spain) and the UK, which together represented 97% of its total sales in 2024. Sidenor's products are 

sold mainly to customers in the automotive, mechanical engineering and energy industries. In 2024, 56% of 

Sidenor's total sales were to customers in the light vehicle industry, 10% in the truck/lorry industry, 7% to the 

mechanical engineering industry and 11% to the energy industry (wind, oil and gas). The remaining 16% 

includes railway, equipment manufacturing and mining industries mainly.  

In 2024 Sidenor generated €838,629 million revenues compared to €938,316 million in 2023, and €52 

million EBITDA compared to €60 million in 2023. 

Sidenor's business is organized in two segments, which comprise two separate categories of steel 

products: (i) special bar quality steel (“SBQ”) products, and (ii) stainless steel products.  

SBQ products  

SBQ products comprise: 

- Hot-rolled bars: steel produced after a thermo mechanical process by means of which the billets 

and/or blooms are transformed into round, square, flat steel bars or coils.  
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- Wire rods: coils made of steel. 

- Forged bars: steel produced after the ingots are transformed into round or flat bars.  

- Bright bars: cold finished bars which are made through a mechanical process that provides the 

surface of the steel dimensional tolerances and certain mechanical properties according to customer 

specifications. 

- Drawn wire: wires which are made drawing out the steels. 

SBQ products are mainly used in the automotive sector (e.g. conrods, gears or crankshafts in 

powertrains, coil springs, leaf springs or stabilizer bars in suspensions, gear racks or wheel hubs in the steering 

sector), in off-highway vehicles and on the energy, mining and heavy machinery sectors. 

Sidenor's sales of SBQ products amounted to €779 million in 2024 compared to €852 million in 2023, 

which accounted for 93% and 91% of total sales in 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Stainless steel products 

Sidenor acquires semi-finished stainless-steel products from different suppliers, in order to roll them in 

its manufacturing facilities and sell the final product to its customers and also produces its own stainless-steel 

in the Basauri steel mill.  

Sidenor's stainless steel products include, among others, hot rolled bars, wire rods and forged bars.  

Sidenor's sales of stainless-steel products amounted to €56 million in 2024 compared to €78 million in 

2023, which accounted for 7% and 8% of total sales in 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

(f) Corporate structure 

Sidenor is the parent company of the Group, which comprises the following directly owned subsidiaries 

and related entities:  

 

Company  Address  Activity  % Ownership  

Calibrados de Precisión, S.A.U. (CAPRESA)*  Barcelona  

Production and 

commercialization  100%  

Sidenor Investigación y Desarrollo, S.A.  Bizkaia  

Research & 

Development  99%  

Sidenor France, S.A.R.L.  France  Commercialization  100%  

Sidenor UK, LTD.  UK  Commercialization  100%  

Sidenor Italia, S.R.L.  Italy  Commercialization  100%  

Sidenor Deutschland, GmbH  Germany  Commercialization  100%  

RDV SAS  France  Commercialization  50%  

Sidenor Bright Steels, S.L.U.  Spain  Production  100%  

Miguel Martín, S.L.U.  Spain  Scrap trade  100%  

Eplus Reciclaje y Gestión Integral de Residuos, S.L.  Spain  Scrap trade  100%  

 

The chart below represents the corporate structure of the Group: 
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(g) Management team 

The sole director of Sidenor is Sidenor Holdings Europa, S.A.U., which representative is Mr. José 

Antonio Jainaga Gómez.  

Management team  

Name  Position   

José A. Jainaga  Chairman & CEO  

Marco Pineda  Corporate Manager  

Maite Echarri  CFO  

Iñigo Molero  Commercial Manager  

Enrique Canal  Industrial Manager  

Isabel Marcos  Executive Committee Secretary 

& Legal Director 

 

 

(h) Auditors  

The individual and consolidated annual accounts of the Issuer for the financial years 2024 and 2023, 

which are incorporated as Annex II and Annex III, respectively, to this Information Memorandum, have been 

audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. (“PwC”) and prepared in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles in Spain (“PGC/NOFCAC”), in particular the Rules for the Preparation of 

Consolidated Annual Accounts approved by Royal Decree 1159/2010 of 17 September, and the Spanish General 

Accounting Plan approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007 of 16 November, as subsequently amended. 

PwC issued a qualified opinion in the auditor's report of the consolidated financial statements as of and 

for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the auditor's report of the individual financial statements of Sidenor 

of and for the year ended 31 December 2024. The auditor considers that the information on the remuneration 

accrued by the sole director of Sidenor during 2024 contained in note No. 23 of the consolidated financial 

statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2024 does not contain the information required by the 

sixth provision of article 48 of the Spanish Commercial Code. 

(i) Material judicial, administrative or arbitration proceedings 

On 30 July 2020, Sidenor was formally notified by the National Commission of Markets and 

Competition (Comisión Nacional de los Mercados y la Competencia) (the "CNMC"), together with other 

companies, of the initiation of a preliminary investigation related to its scrap purchasing activity, which is 

necessary for its production process. On 14 March 2022, the CNMC resolved to fine Sidenor with €10.3 million 

as a result of such investigation. In May 2022, the CNMC's resolution was appealed by Sidenor before the 

jurisdiction of the administrative courts. The proceeding is still pending to be ruled. 

In July 2025, a judge of the Spanish National Court (Audiencia Nacional) initiated an investigation in 

relation to certain sales of steel by Sidenor to an Israeli company. The investigation is in a preliminary stage, 
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and concerns the President and two other managers of the Company. This investigation also involves Clerbil, 

S.L., which holds the position of sole administrator of Sidenor Holdings Europa. 

VI. REGISTERED ADVISOR 

(a) Corporate name, Tax Identification Number (NIF) and Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) code 

Banca March, S.A. ("Banca March" or the "Registered Advisor") is a public limited company 

(sociedad anónima) with tax identification number A07004021 and LEI code number 

959800LQ598A5RQASA61. 

Banca March has been designated as registered advisor of the Issuer under the Program. 

(b) Corporate address and Commercial Registry data 

The Registered Advisor is domiciled in Palma, Spain, with registered office at Avenida Alejandro 

Roselló 4, 07002, Palma. Banca March is registered with the Commercial Registry of Palma de Mallorca 

(Registro Mercantil de Palma de Mallorca) in Volume 20, Book 104, Folio 230, Page PM195. 

(c) Operation instruction data 

Banca March is registered with the MARF in its registry of registered advisors (Registro de Asesores 

Registrados del Mercado) pursuant to the Operational Instruction 8/2014 of 24 March on the admission of 

registered advisors to the MARF. 

(d) Representation of the Registered Advisor 

Banca March, as registered Advisor to the Program, has the functions stated in Circular 2/2025, of 16 

June 2025, on registered advisors of the MARF, the MARF Regulation of May 30, 2018, and any other 

applicable regulations. 

VII. PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE INFORMATION 
MEMORANDUM 

Mr. José Antonio Jainaga Gómez, on behalf of Sidenor, acting as sole director of Sidenor, is responsible 

for the entire content of this Information Memorandum. 

Mr. José Antonio Jainaga Gómez hereby declares that the information contained in this Information 

Memorandum is, to the best of his knowledge and after executing the reasonable diligence to ensure that it is 

as stated, compliant with the facts and does not omit any relevant fact likely to affect the content of this 

Information Memorandum. 

VIII. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 

(a) Full name of the notes 

The Notes to be issued under the so called "Commercial Paper Program SIDENOR 2025" ("Programa 

de pagarés SIDENOR 2025") are commercial paper notes (pagarés) as construed under Spanish law. 

(b) Maximum outstanding amount 

The total maximum outstanding nominal amount of the Program is €35,000,000 at any time. 

Such amount refers to the total maximum limit that the aggregate nominal amount of the outstanding 

Notes issued under the Program can reach at any time. 
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Notwithstanding the above, in accordance with article 401 of consolidated text of the Spanish Companies 

Law approved by Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010 of July 2 (the “Spanish Companies Law”), the aggregate 

outstanding amount of the issues of Sidenor shall not be greater than twice its own funds (recursos propios) 

unless the issue is secured by a mortgage, a pledge of securities, a public guarantee or a joint and several 

guarantee by a credit institution. 

(c) Description of the type and class of notes. nominal value 

The Notes are securities issued at a discount from their nominal value, represent a debt of the Issuer and 

will be paid at par on maturity. Each issuance of Notes with the same maturity date will be assigned with the 

same ISIN code. The issue date of the Notes will be set out in the complementary certificates (certificaciones 

complementarias) corresponding to each issue of Notes. 

Each Note will have a nominal value of €100,000 and therefore the maximum number of outstanding 

Notes under the Program will not exceed 350 at any time. 

(d) Governing law and jurisdiction 

The Notes shall be issued in accordance with the Spanish Companies Law approved by the Securities 

Markets and Investment Services Law and their development regulations.  

The Notes shall be governed by Spanish law and any dispute that may arise regarding thereto shall be 

submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the city of Madrid (Spain).  

(e) Representation of the notes through book entries 

The Notes to be issued under the Program will be represented in book-entry form (anotaciones en 

cuenta) and will be registered with Iberclear as managing entity of the Spanish Central Registry (Registro 

Central), together with the Iberclear Members. 

(f) Currency of the notes 

The Notes will be denominated in euro (€). 

(g) Status of the notes 

The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes on account of principal shall constitute direct, 

unconditional and unsecured obligations (créditos ordinarios) of the Issuer and in the event of insolvency 

(concurso) of the Issuer (unless they qualify as subordinated obligations under article 281 of the Insolvency 

Law or equivalent legal provision that replaces it in the future and subject to any other ranking that may apply 

as a result of any mandatory provision of law) will rank pari passu and without any preference among 

themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations (créditos ordinarios) 

of the Issuer. 

The Notes shall not be secured by any in rem security or third party guarantees. Consequently, the Issuer 

shall be solely liable against the investors by virtue of the Notes. 

(h) Description of the rights related to the notes and the procedure to exercise such rights. method and term 

for payment and delivery of the notes. 

The Notes will not grant their holders any present and/or future political rights over the Issuer. The 

economic and financial rights associated to the acquisition and holding of the Notes shall be those resulting 

from the particular terms and conditions of each issue, such as interest rate (discount rate) and redemption price, 

among others. 
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The Notes will be subscribed, and the issue price will be paid, on the issue date. The issue price of the 

Notes will be paid to the Issuer by Banca March, S.A. (as paying agent) into the account specified by the Issuer 

on the corresponding issue date.  

In all cases, the Placement Entities will issue a nominative and non-negotiable certificate of acquisition 

of the Notes. This certificate will provisionally evidence the subscription of the Notes until the appropriate book 

entry is practiced, which will grant holders the right to request the relevant certificate of ownership (certificado 

de legitimación). The Issuer will notify the payment of the issue price of the Notes to the MARF and Iberclear 

through the relevant certificate. 

(i) Issue date. term of the program 

The term of validity of the Program is one year from the date of admission (fecha de incorporación) of 

the Information Memorandum on the MARF. The Notes may be issued, subscribed for and admitted to the 

MARF under the Program on any day during the one-year term of the Program. However, the Issuer reserves 

the right to not issue Notes as it deems appropriate, in accordance with the treasury needs of the Issuer or if it 

finds more favourable financing conditions. 

(j) Nominal interest rate. indication of yield and calculation method 

The Notes will be issued at the interest rate (discount rate) agreed between the Issuer and the Placement 

Entities or the investors, as applicable. The yield of the Notes is implicit as the Notes will be issued at a discount 

from their nominal value to be paid on the maturity date. As the Notes are securities issued at a discount with 

an implicit yield, the issue price to be paid by the subscriber of the Notes on the issue date will vary depending 

on the agreed interest rate (discount rate) and maturity of the Notes. 

Therefore, the issue price for each Note may be calculated through the following formulas: 

 Where the Note is issued for a term of 365 days or less: 

𝐸 =  
𝑁

1 + 𝑖𝑛
𝑑
𝐵

 

 

 Where the term exceeds 365 days: 

𝐸 =  
𝑁

(1 + 𝑖𝑛)𝑑/𝐵
 

Where: 

N = nominal value of the Note. 

E = issue price of the Note. 

d = number of days until maturity. 

i = nominal interest rate expressed as a decimal. 

B= basis; If the basis is 
𝑎𝑐𝑡

365
, B = 365. If the basis is 

𝑎𝑐𝑡

360
, B = 360 

The tables included below purport to help investors by specifying the issue prices for different interest 

rates and maturities, including also a column showing the variation of the issue price of the Notes when 

increasing by ten days its maturity. The calculation base (base de cálculo) of the Notes in the table below is 

Act/365. As each issue of Notes may have a different calculation base of either Act/360 or Act/365, if the base 

is Act/360, the table may vary. 
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The internal rate of return (IRR) for each Note can be determined by the following formula: 

  

  

  

Whereby: 

IRR = effective annual interest rate expressed as a decimal. 

N = nominal value of the Note. 
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E = issue price paid on the issue date. 

d = number of calendar days between the issue date (inclusive) and the maturity date (exclusive). 

(k) Placement entities, paying agent and depository entities 

The Placement Entities which will be collaborating in this Program are:  

- Banca March, S.A. 

- JB Capital Markets, S.V., S.A.U. 

- Kutxabank Investment, S.V., S.A. 

Collaboration agreements will be entered into on or around the date of this Program by the Issuer and 

the Placement Entities in relation to the Program, including the possibility to sell to third parties, but neither 

Banca March, S.A., JB Capital Markets, S.V., S.A.U., Kutxabank Investment, S.V., S.A. nor any other entity 

has accepted any undertaking to underwrite the Notes. The Issuer has the possibility to appoint new placement 

entities under the Program. In the case that a new placement entity is appointed by the Issuer, an other relevant 

information notice (comunicación de otra información relevante) will be promptly communicated to MARF.  

The paying entity in connection with the Notes will be Banca March, S.A. (the "Paying Agent"). The 

tax identification number of the Paying Agent is A07004021 and its registered office is located at Avenida 

Alejandro Roselló 4, 07002 Palma, Spain. 

The Issuer has not designated any depository entity in connection with the Notes. Each subscriber of the 

Notes will designate a depositary entity among any of the Iberclear Members.  

(l) Redemption price and provisions regarding maturity of the notes 

The Notes issued under the Program will be redeemed at their nominal value on the maturity date set 

out in the terms and conditions of each issue, withholding the corresponding amount, if applicable. 

Given that the Notes will be traded on the MARF, their redemption will take place pursuant to the 

clearance and settlement rules of Iberclear. On the maturity date, the nominal value will be paid to holders by 

the Paying Agent on behalf of the Issuer. The Paying Agent does not take any liability whatsoever vis à vis the 

holders of the Notes regarding the payment by the Issuer of the nominal value. 

In the event that the maturity date is not a Business Day, the payment of the nominal value will be made 

on the immediately following Business Day. In this case, the redemption price will not be modified. "Business 

Day" means any day on which the real time gross settlement system operated by the Eurosystem, or any 

successor system ("T2") is operating, except from those days that, despite being business days according to T2, 

are holidays in the City of Bilbao. 

(m) Valid term to claim the principal of the notes 

In accordance with article 1,964 of the Spanish Civil Code, claims against the Issuer for the payment of 

the redemption price of the Notes will prescribe after 5 years from the date on which such payment becomes 

due. 

(n) Minimum and maximum maturity of the notes 

During the term of the Program, the Notes may be issued with a maturity of between 3 Business Days 

and 730 calendar days. 

(o) Early redemption of the notes 
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The Notes will not include an early redemption option for the Issuer (call) nor for the noteholders (put). 

However, the Issuer may purchase the Notes in the secondary market for their redemption. 

(p) Restrictions on the free transferability of the notes 

In accordance with legislation in force, there are no particular or general restrictions on the free 

transferability of the Notes to be issued. 

IX. TAXATION OF THE NOTES  

In accordance with the provisions set out in current legislation, the Notes are rated as financial assets 

with implicit returns. Income from the Notes is considered to be capital gains and subject to Personal Income 

Tax (the "PIT"), Corporate Income Tax (the "CIT") and Non-Residents Income Tax (the "NRIT") and to 

withholding tax at source, under the terms and conditions set out in the respective regulatory laws and other 

standards that implement said laws. 

Investors interested in acquiring the Notes to be issued or offered are recommended to check with their 

tax advisors or lawyers who could give them personalized advice in view of their specific circumstances. 

Likewise, investors and potential investors should take into consideration potential changes in legislation or its 

criteria of interpretation. 

X. INFORMATION RELATED TO THE ADMISSION OF THE COMMERCIAL PAPER 

(a) Publication of the Information Memorandum 

This Information Memorandum will be published on the website of the MARF 

(www.bolsasymercados.es). 

(b) Description of the placement system  

Placement by the Placement Entities 

The Placement Entities may intermediate in the placement of the Notes, without prejudice to the 

Placement Entities being able to subscribe the Notes in their own name. 

For these purposes, the Placement Entities may request the Issuer in any Business Day, between 10.00 

a.m. and 2.00 p.m. (CET), volume quotations and interest rates for any potential issuances of Notes in order to 

carry out the corresponding book building process among investors.  

The amount, interest rate, issue date, maturity date, as well as the rest of the terms and conditions of 

each issuance of Notes will be agreed between the Issuer and the Placement Entities or other placement entities, 

if any involved. Such terms shall be confirmed by means of the delivery of a document which includes the 

conditions of the issue, to be sent by the Issuer to the relevant Placement Entities. 

If the Notes are originally subscribed by the Placement Entities for its subsequent transmission to the 

final investors, the acquisition price will be the one freely agreed by the interested parties, which may not be 

the same as the issue price (that is, the effective amount). 

Issue and subscription of the Notes directly by investors 

Additionally, final investors who are eligible as qualified investors (as such term is defined in article 

2(e) of the Prospectus Regulation or the regulation that may replace it and in the equivalent legislation in other 

jurisdictions) may subscribe for the Notes directly from the Issuer, as long as they fulfil any requirements that 

could arise from the legislation in force. In such cases, the amount, interest rate, issue and disbursement dates, 
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maturity date, as well as the rest of the terms of each issue shall be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant 

final investors in relation to each particular issue. 

(c) Admission (incorporación) to trading of the Notes 

Application will be made for the Notes to be listed on the MARF. The Issuer hereby undertakes to carry 

out all the necessary actions for the Notes to be listed on the MARF within 7 Business Days from the issue date 

of the Notes. For these purposes, the issue date of the Notes is the same as the date of payment of the subscription 

price. The admission to trading of the Notes on the MARF must take place, in any event, within the term of this 

Information Memorandum and before the maturity date of the Notes. In the event of not meeting such deadline, 

the reasons for the delay will be notified to the MARF through the publication of an other relevant information 

notice (comunicación de otra información relevante), regardless of any possible contractual liability that the 

Issuer may incur. 

The MARF is a multilateral trading facility (MTF) (sistema multilateral de negociación) established in 

Spain in accordance with article 68 of the Securities Markets and Investment Services Law. Therefore, the 

MARF is not a regulated market in accordance with the provisions of MiFID II. 

The MARF will inform of the admission (incorporación) to trading of the Notes through its website 

(www.bolsasymercados.es). 

This Information Memorandum has been prepared in compliance with the Circular 1/2025. 

Neither the MARF, nor the CNMV, nor the Placement Entities have approved or carried out any 

verification or testing regarding the content of this Information Memorandum. The admission to MARF does 

not represent a statement or recognition of the fullness, comprehensibility and consistency of the documentation 

and information provided by the Issuer to the MARF in connection with this Information Memorandum. 

It is recommended that the investor fully and carefully read this Information Memorandum prior to 

making any investment decision regarding the Notes. 

The Issuer hereby expressly declares that it is aware of the necessary requirements and conditions for 

the admission, permanence and delisting of the Notes on the MARF, according to the applicable regulations 

and the requirements of the MARF, and expressly agrees to comply with them. 

The clearance and settlement of the Notes will be performed through Iberclear. The Issuer hereby 

expressly declares that it is aware of the requirements for registration and settlement on Iberclear. 
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ANNEX 1 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OF THE ISSUER 

1. Brief description of Issuer’s Activity 

Strategy 

Sidenor's strategy is to be a European leader in special steel products. Its main target markets are the 

automotive, mechanical engineering and oil and gas sectors in Spain, Germany, France, the UK and Italy. 

Sidenor has been implementing a new strategy since the third quarter of 2016 which mainly focuses on the 

following objectives: 

Increase cost efficiency  

Sidenor's aim is to strengthen its efficient cost structure and seeks to reduce costs and to improve 

operation efficiencies through a number of initiatives; as well as enhancing its financial and cost control in 

order to gain access to new financial sources and to increase its cost efficiency. 

In order to increase its efficiency and to obtain economies of scale, Sidenor is currently under an 

industrial concentration process. 

In addition, the investments carried out by Sidenor in the years 2017-2020 in the steel works and rolling 

mills have increased its productivity and reduced its costs. 

Provide value added products and services 

Sidenor's technical experts contribute knowledge as to how the qualities of high strength special steels 

can be utilized in an efficient manner to create new and innovative solutions and applications. Products are 

developed in close cooperation with customers with high flexibility to adapt to customers' needs. Sidenor is 

currently increasing its product portfolio to enter new special steel product niches. 

In particular, Sidenor finished in 2021 the implementation of a €128 million investment plan that started 

in 2018 to acquire new machinery, improve its facilities, and carry out investments in research and development 

and digitalization. As a result of these new investments, Sidenor expects to accomplish growth by expanding 

and enhancing the production capabilities and the productivity, as well as developing new generation products 

to expand the customer base. In these high value-added products, sector competition is lower, and it is less 

exposed to sector's cycles.  

Sidenor is committed to keeping and improving the quality of its products so that it can keep its current 

outstanding reputation in the sector. 

Improve diversification 

Between 2021 and 2023, Sidenor executed investments to develop new casting formats as well as in 

treatments and finishing processes, which have enabled Sidenor to diversify its production and expand into 

sectors such as the railway industry. 

Maintaining its customer base through long-term commitment  

Sidenor has an existing strong relationship with its customers based on collaboration, hard work and 

long-term commitment. Sidenor is directly involved in understanding the activities of its customers. Sidenor 

usually works together with its customers to develop new technologies and products jointly, in order to be the 

manufacturer of choice for their new product contracts. 

Additionally, the manufacturing facilities of Sidenor are located close to its main customers in order to 

increase efficiency, reduce response times and lower transport costs with some of its existing main customers. 
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More transparency and sound finances 

Sidenor is focusing on diversifying its funding sources to improve its financial soundness. It has also 

improved its internal communication and transparency with a special focus on intermediate managers, it is 

enhancing managerial and cultural changes, and it is improving its human resources through internal training 

for existing employees and recruiting new employees.  

Production  

Production process 

The majority of the special steel products are manufactured using a flexible electric arc furnace ("EAF"), 

a steel-making route which is based on ferrous scrap as the primary raw material and uses electricity, or in some 

cases natural gas, to melt the raw material.  

Scrap: special steel production starts with the collection and purchase of scrap. Scrap is the main raw 

material of special steels, typically accounting for 95% or more of the EAF charge. The ability to source ferrous 

scrap and carefully sort purchased scrap according to the purity of the ferrous materials and the content of the 

various alloys that are included in the scrap materials represents an important value creation operation for 

special steel producers. The use of scrap plays a key role in supressing industry emissions and resource 

consumption. Each tonne of scrap used for steel production avoids the emission of 1.5 tonnes of CO2 and the 

consumption of 1.4 tonnes of iron ore, 740kg of coal and 120 kg of limestone (source: Worldsteel). 

Meltshop: cold ferrous scrap is melted via controlled lightning with electricity arcing between several 

electrodes inserted through the roof of the EAF into the scrap. The EAF therefore works as a discrete batch 

process with each batch of scrap being molten separately. Fluxes are added to the charge mix in the EAF for 

the purpose of removing undesirable trace elements. In order to obtain specific characteristics in the final 

product, such as resilience and ductility, ferroalloys (like chromium, nickel, molybdenum, vanadium, etc.) are 

also added. 

After certain processes, the molten steel is then casted into its first semi-finished solid state, by pouring 

into a continuous caster to produce blooms or billets in the Basauri steel mill. Depending on final finished 

product form, this first semi-finished product is a larger rectangular bloom, a smaller rectangular or square 

billet, or a round which is used for the production of seamless tubes.  

Rolling mill: in order to make a bar (including bright bars), the semi-finished steel product is then 

processed through a hot rolling facility where the first stage is a reheat furnace. Once the semi-finished product 

is heated to rolling temperature in the reheat furnace, it is passed through the hot rolling mill which includes a 

sequential series of both roughing and finishing stands, with each containing highly powered rolling cylinders 

above and below to reduce the thickness and add length and grain structure to the steel product. 

Heat treatment: after the rolling mill and the forging and casting processes (as applicable to each end-

product), the steel is further processed by cooling and quenching, annealing and tempering. By means of these 

treatments, specific particularities are obtained in the performance of the steel to fulfil the demands of the 

clients. 

Scrap recovery: During the entire production process, steel residues are generated, and they are melted 

in the steel mill for its reuse. Therefore, Sidenor is a material-recycler company. 

Production capacity 

Sidenor's steel production capacity exceeds one million tonnes annually. The Group has six 

manufacturing facilities in Spain: one in Cantabria, four in the Basque Country and one in Catalonia. 
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Markets and Customers 

Special long steel is generally defined as long steel that is combined with alloying elements, such as 

nickel, chromium, vanadium, molybdenum, tungsten and manganese, and processed, for example, by means of 

heat treatment, to create a steel product with special material properties, such as a particular chemical 

composition, a defined crystalline structure or a combination thereof.  

Steel products are commonly divided into the two main categories "flat" or "long" steel products. Long 

products include engineering steel products, as well as wire and other long product shapes in multiple steel 

grades. Flat products are used in a wide range of applications, such as slab, plate, strip and coil or tinplate, but 

do typically not require the same degree of durability as engineering steel. Whilst engineering steel is a 

subcategory of long steel products, the majority of flat products are made with more simple carbon steels. 

Sidenor follows a well-developed and highly disciplined commercial strategy with strong focus on the 

European market. The Group has a wide and diversified client base with low concentration, both in terms of 

end-markets and countries, enabling Sidenor to have existing relationships with most of its potential clients in 

Europe.  

Sidenor sells its products in more than 40 countries and is present in four different EU countries (Spain, 

Germany, France and Italy) which jointly represent between 85% and 90% of the total European specialty steel 

demand. Among them, the most important market for Sidenor is Spain, in which Sidenor has 7% market share 

(Source: Eurofer). In relation to the other countries, Sidenor has 23% market share in France, 6% in Germany 

and 1% in Italy. Spain also remains the most powerful market for Sidenor, as it represented 47% of total sales 

in 2024, compared to the rest of the EU 48%, UK 3%, US and Canada 2% and other countries (excluding the 

EU, the US and Canada) 1%. Despite being Spain the most relevant market, the risk of Sidenor is diversified 

throughout all the EU. As most of the Spanish clients are product exporters within the EU, any adverse event 

that may occur in Spain will not have a very significant impact on the Group's revenues. For example, sales to 

the automotive industry in Spain are used for the manufacture of automobile components and automobiles that 

are exported outside Spain.  

In relation to the end market, Sidenor's customers mainly operate in the automotive, energy and 

mechanical engineering sectors. The light vehicle and truck/lorry sectors, which accounted for 56% and 10%, 

respectively. of Sidenor's total sales in 2024, are together the main end market for specialty steels. Other relevant 

end markets for Sidenor are Mechanical Engineering (7% of Sidenor's 2024 total sales), Energy (11% over 

Sidenor's 2024 total sales) and other end sectors (16% of Sidenor's 2024 total sales) (Source: Eurofer). 

Furthermore, Sidenor has carried out a large investment project for the past few years, which was finished in 

the third quarter of 2021. As a result of this, Sidenor is able to produce wider ranges of products and to reduce 

its exposure to the automotive sector, focusing on new target markets, such as wind energy, railway or off-

highway. 

The client base is diversified, both in terms of end-markets and countries. Its top 5 customers accounted 

for 27% of total sales and the 20 main customers only representing 53% of total sales in 2024. 

The special steel industry has developed a pricing system that allows fluctuations in raw material prices 

for both scrap and alloys to be passed on to customers. Under this system, special long steel producers negotiate 

a base price with the customer and then add surcharges for both scrap and alloy based on index prices. While 

the index price system does not entirely eliminate the exposure to raw material price volatility, particularly 

during prolonged periods of decline in the price of raw materials the exposure to fluctuations in prices for raw 

materials is significantly less pronounced. The pricing system works as follows: 

(1) The base price is negotiated with the customer and depends mainly on market supply and demand. 
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(2) The scrap surcharge is a supplementary charge added by the producers of engineering or tool 

steel to the selling price of steel, passing on charges (whether increases or decreases) in the price 

for scrap directly to customers. The scrap surcharge is based on an index price system for scrap; 

the actual amount of the surcharge is mostly determined on the final sale date and varies 

depending on the type of product and the country where the product is produced. 

(3) The alloy surcharge is applied in the same manner as the scrap surcharge and allow special steel 

producers to pass on the charges (whether increases or decreases) in price for alloys. The concept 

of the alloy surcharge, which is calculated using raw material prices quoted on certain accepted 

exchanges, such as the LME, or is determined on industry-wide accepted price publications, such 

as Metal Bulletin, S&P Global Platts, CRU/Ryan's Notes, etc. 

Employees 

Sidenor has reduced the number of employees over the last years and maintained constant levels of 

production, thus increasing employees' productivity. This reduction was carried out to improve its efficiency 

and reducing the average age of the staff and was executed through early retirement plans. 

As of 30 September 2025, the monthly average number of employees was 1,860. 

Research & Development ("R&D") 

Sidenor R&D department's mission is to create, develop and protect Sidenor's technology in order to 

reach innovative solutions in the production and use of steel materials and steel components. 

Sidenor has one of the most recognized special steel R&D centres in Europe (performed by a separate 

company called Sidenor Investigación y Desarrollo, S.A.), which collaborates with multiple technology centres, 

universities and other European R&D centres, with a high technology owned laboratory equipped with modern 

test facilities both for metallurgical characterization as for physical simulation. It focuses on high value-added 

products through close and continuous collaboration with customers to develop tailor-made solutions. With a 

total budget that accounts for €5.8 million and 52 employees (including process and product departments), its 

innovative capacity has made it able to register some patents (currently 5 active patents).  

The R&D department is made up of 2 divisions: 

 Process Area: focused on the improvement and strengthening of current processes, 

implementation of new processes and introduction of new innovative technologies. 

 Product Area: it develops new grades suitable for oncoming demands, adapts current grades to 

new processes, finds new applications for current grades and provides metallurgical consulting 

to customers. 

Enhancement of sustainability 

Focused on the circular economy 

Sidenor is a signatory party to the Circular Economy Compact (Pacto por una Economía Circular), 

currently promoted by the Spanish Ministry for the Ecological Transition and the Demographic Challenge. The 

aim is to involve the main economic and social actors in Spain in the transition towards a new economic model. 

This initiative is intended to create a political framework to support the change to an economy that is 

efficient in the use of resources and low carbon emissions, helping to boost profits while consuming less 

resources at the same time; to identify and create opportunities for economic growth and drive innovation and 

competitiveness; to guarantee security of supply of essential resources; to combat climate change and limit the 

environmental impacts of the use of resources. 
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Sidenor bases the management of its business on this model and on analysis of the life cycle of the 

products it manufactures, which helps it to be more responsible and sustainable. 

Medium-term objectives 

 Combating climate change, reducing our carbon footprint and focusing efforts on energy 

efficiency. 

 Manufacturing sustainable steel products, incorporating the environmental factor in new product 

designs. 

 Integration with our environment, through closer interaction with stakeholders. 

Sidenor's 5Rs  

Sidenor has a strong commitment to the communities in which it operates, which is why it cares for, 

protect and recover the natural environments where Sidenor works. In order to comply with its commitments, 

Sidenor is constantly looking for ways to optimise the activities at our places of work, putting the focus on 

reducing consumption and emissions, as well reusing and recycling scrap generated during steel production. 

Recycling 

All the steel Sidenor manufactures comes from scrap metal. Recycling is therefore one of its main 

activities, annually managing over a million tonnes of industrial waste and obsolete materials that are no 

longer useful for society, such as electrical appliances and cars. At Sidenor's plants it reuses these raw 

materials and remanufacture them as new steel products of the highest quality. 

Recycling scrap metal not only gives this scrap a new lease of life. It also helps to reduce the use of 

energy required in the steel production process and, consequently, CO2 emissions, as well as cutting down the 

amount of waste in landfill. Recycling scrap metal also creates thousands of jobs through an extensive collection 

and processing network. 

Water 

In steel production and manufacturing, water is a fundamental resource that is used as a cooling agent 

for production equipment and for products. Sidenor has been working for years to ensure preventive and 

responsible use of this resource, incorporating in its processes the three lines of action considered by the EU as 

the best available environmental techniques: (i) separating direct (dirty) cooling water systems from indirect 

(clean) systems; (ii) closed-loop systems, so that it can reuse most of the water before it goes into the 

environment. At present some of our factories have a reutilisation rate of over 95% and (iii) optimisation of 

water treatment systems. These are implemented to avoid polluting the receiving environment (river, local 

sewer) and be able to reuse it internally. 

Heat recovery 

All Sidenor's billet furnaces have heat recovery systems that make use of the gases generated to pre-heat 

the combustion air, thereby reducing natural gas consumption. 

Waste 

Sidenor wants to make maximum use of its resources, reusing and recovering, for example, the by-

products of steelmaking. This is the case of refractory materials, with which Sidenor has opened different 

channels of recycling in the mineral industry. Sidenor involvement in the ISOVAL Project has enabled it to 

increase from 7% to 94% the potentially recoverable portion of this waste generated at our Basauri plant. 

Emissions 
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Sidenor has made major investments to reduce our atmospheric emissions of particles as well as 

greenhouse gases. Sidenor has cut its CO2 emissions by 44% over the last seven years.  

Recent Developments 

There have not been any recent developments which significantly change the financial position of 

Sidenor since the approval of its Consolidated Financial Statements of the year ended on 31 December 2024.  

Consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2024and 2023 (in € thousands) 

Assets 

ASSETS  2024 2023   

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 410,316 412,720

Intangible Assets 44,563 40,363  

  Goodwill  18,264 17,486

  Computer Software  678 161

  Other intangible assets  25,621 22,716

Property, plant and equipment 270,859 276,821

  Land and Buildings 93,919 96,674

  Technical Installations and other property, plant and equipment 163,590 159,096

  Property, plant and equipment under constructions and advances 13,350 21,051

Investment in Group and Associated Companies 96 96

  Investments accounted for using the equity method 96 96

Long-term financial investments 713 857

  Loans to third parties 119 174

  Equity instruments 15 15

  Other financial assets 579 668

Deferred tax assets 94,085 94,583
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CURRENT ASSETS   368,757 407,480  

Inventories  219,593 253,780  

  Raw materials and other supplies  33,887 41,739  

  Work in process  114,572 141,317  

  Finished Goods  69,691 68,211  

  By-products, waste and recovered materials  1,339 2,410  

  Advances to suppliers  104 103  

Non-Current assets classified as held for sale  73 61,880  

  Trade receivables for sales and services rendered  66,557 55,560  

  Trade receivables with Group and Associated Companies  66 156  

  Sundry receivables   12 11  

  Personnel   57 64  

  Receivables from Public Entities   7,191 6,089  

Investment in Group and Associated Companies  4 -  

Credits to companies accounted for using the equity method  4 -  

Short-term Financial Investments  1,716 1,783  

  Loans to third parties  55 55  

  Other financial investments   1,661 1,728  

Short-term accruals  218 242  

Cash and cash equivalents  73,343 89,795  

  Cash   73,343 89,795  

   

TOTAL ASSETS  779,073 820,200  

 

Net equity and Liabilities  

NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  2024 2023   

NET EQUITY 353,563 352,224

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent  353,517 352,182

  Share capital  81,612 81,612

  Share premium  115,311 115,311

  Retained Earnings  164,401 164,872

  Translation differences  (18) (24)

Adjustments for change in value  7,789 (9,589)

  Hedging transactions  7,789 (9,589)

Non-controlling interest 46 42

  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  167,345 166,110

Deferred income  3,162 3,299

Long-term provisions  15,219 14,977

  Long-term personnel benefits 3,925 3,533

  Other provisions 11,294 11,444

Non-current payables 105,595 106,240

  Non-current debt with financial institutions 92,641 89,483

  Derivatives 8,170 11,210

  Other financial liabilities 4,784 5,547
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NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  2024 2023   

Long-term debts with group associated companies 18,769 18,259

Non-current trade creditors  1,160

Deferred tax liabilities 3,786 3,840

Long-term accruals 20,814 17,885

  

CURRENT LIABILITIES  258,165 301,866  

Short-term provisions  11,482 11,558  

Short-term payables  50,450 54,186  

  Securities and other tradeable instruments  14,600 11,200  

  Current debt with financial institutions  22,060 35,844  

  Derivatives  2,078 1,576  

  Other financial liabilities   11,712 5,566  

Long-term debts with group associated companies  6,068 16,914  

Trade and other payables  190,165 219,208  

  Suppliers   129,606 141,255  

  Suppliers, Group and Associated Companies  67 70  

  Creditors  43,911 55,287  

  Personnel  10,847 14,911  

  Other payables Public Administration  5,734 7,685  

    

TOTAL NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   779,073 820,200  

 

Audited Consolidated Income Statement for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 (in € 

thousands) 

Continuing operations 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS  2024 2023   

Net turnover 838,629 938,316

  Sales 834,607 930,101

  Provisions of services 4,022 8,215

Change in inventories of finished and semi-finished products 26,267 2,431

Provisions  (460,592) (540,208)

  Goods consumables  (32,180) (62,140)

  Raw materials and consumables  (426,587) (474,814)

  Subcontracted work  (1,825) (3,254)

Other operating income 16,011 16,959

  Non-core and other current operating revenues  4,606 4,742

  Operating grants taken to income  11,405 12,217

Personnel expenses  (119,230) (123,384)

  Wages, salaries and similar payments  (86,962) (91,994)

  Employee benefits expense  (32,268) (31,390)

Other operating expenses  (196,229) (228,628)

  External services  (189,407) (221,907)

  Taxes  (2,104) (1,992)

  Losses, impairment and variation in trade provisions  (62) (88)

  Other current operating expenses  (4,656) (4,641)
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CONTINUING OPERATIONS  2024 2023   

Depreciation of fixed assets  (26,332) (28,348)

Allocation of grants related to non-financial fixed assets  319 220

Impairment and profit/loss due to disposal of fixed assets  56 (670)

  Impairment losses  240 103

  Profit/loss due to disposal of fixed assets and others  (103) (773)

Other profit/loss  - 5

  

OPERATING PROFIT 26,365 31,831

Financial income 2,538 1,518

  Tradable securities and other financial instruments  

  - of third parties 2,538 1,518

Financial expenses (11,404) (11,784)

  Debt with Group and Associated companies (854) (777)

  Debt with third parties (10,535) (10,983)

  Due to discount from present value (15) (24)

Exchange differences 381 553

Variation in fair value of financial instruments - 3

Impairment and result from disposals of financial instruments 1,010 1,374

  

FINANCIAL RESULT  (7,475) (8,336)  

    

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  18,890 23,495  

  Income tax expense  (4,366) 26,208  

    

PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS   14,524 49,703  
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Discontinued operations 

 

 

 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  2024 2023   

    

PROFIT FROM PERIOD  14,524 49,703  

  Attributable to:    

  Non-controlling interests  4 1  

  Owners of the parent  14,520 49,702  

Profit/(Loss) for the period  14,524 49,703  

    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AFTER TAX  1,806 (9,587)  

  Exchange gains  6 2  

  Cash flow hedge  650 (12,786)  

  Income tax  (560) 3,197  

    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  16,330 40,116  

  Attributable to:    

  Owners of the parent  16,326 40,115  

  Non-controlling interests  4 1  

    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD ATTRIBUTABLE 
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE PARENT  

 

 

Continuing operations  16,330 40,116  

  16,330 40,116  
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Audited Consolidated change in equity for the ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 (in € thousand) 

 
Audited Consolidated change in equity for the ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 

  

Common 
Stock  

Share 
Premium  

Legal 
Reserves  

Other 
Reserves  

Profit for 
the Year 
Attrib. to 
the Parent 

Co.  

Exchange 
rate 

difference 

 

Dividends 
paid 

 

Valuation 
adjust. 

 

Non-
controlling 

Interest 

 

Total 

 

                      

Balance at beginning of fiscal year 2023 81,612 115,311 16,323 65,481 48,366 26 - - 41  327,108

Consolidated comprehensive income for 
2022 - - - - 49,702 2 - (9,589) 1 40,116 

Distribution of results for year 2021 - - - 48,366 (48,366) - - - -  -

Transactions with non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - -  -

Other Transactions -  -

Transactions with shareholders - - - - - - - -  -

Dividends paid - - - (15,000) - - - - -  -

Acquisition of external shareholder's shares - - - - - - - - -  -

Closing balance of fiscal year 2023 81,612 115,311 16,323 98,847 49,702 (24) - (9,589) 42  352,224

Consolidated Global income for 2023 - - - - 14,520 6 - 1,800 4  16,330

Distribution of results for year 2022 - - - 49,702 (49,702) - - - -  -

Distribution of dividends  (15,000)  (15,0

Other transactions  - - - 9 - - - - -  9

Closing balance of fiscal year 2024 81,612 115,311 16,323 133,558 14,520 (18) - (7,789) 46  353,563
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Audited Consolidated Cash Flow statement for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 (in € 

thousands) 

  2024 2023   

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
35,124

(279)

Profit before tax  18,890 23,495

Result adjustments  34,100 43,256

  Depreciation of fixed assets  26,332 28,348

  Impairment value adjustments  510 3,205

  Change in provisions  158 1,442

  Allocation of grants  (319) (220)

  Results on derecognition and disposal of fixed assets  (56) 773

  Impairment and result from disposals of financial instruments  1,010 -

  Financial income  (2,538) (1,518)

  Financial expense  11,404 11,784

  Exchange differences  381 (553)

  Other income and expenses  - (5)

Changes in working capital  (8,710) (56,436)

  Inventories  33,559 (9,578)

  Trade and other receivables  (11,377) 31,567

  Other current assets  24 (1)

  Other current liabilities  (30,916) (75,888)

  Other current and non-current liabilities  - (2,536)

Other cash flows from operating activities  (9,156) (10,594)

Interest paid  (11,358) (11,437)

  Interest received  2,508 1,517

  Payments to social program and other provisions  (30 (674)

 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (15,764) (17,866)

Payment on investments  (17,194) (21,385)

  Interests in Group companies   (275) (404)

  Group and associated companies  (4) (913)

  Intangible assets  (467) -

  Other financial assets  - (89)

  Tangible assets  (16,448) (19,679)

Collections from divestments  1,430 3,519

  Collections from granted loans  - -

  Intangible assets  175 448

  Other financial assets  1,255 3,071

 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (35,812) (23,786)

  Grants, donations and bequests received 3,375 2,107

  Dividends paid (30,000) (10,000)

  Securities and other tradeable instruments 37,400 41,600

  Issue of bank borrowings 38,000 28,500

  Issuance of debt with group and associated companies 399

  Issuance of other debt 988
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  2024 2023   

  Return and payment of bank borrowings (49,583) (48,708)

  Return and payment of notes and other tradable securities (34,000) (35,800)

  Return and payment of other borrowings (2,391) -

  Return and payment of debts with Group companies - (1,485)

 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (16,452) (41,931)

  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 89,795 131,726

  Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 73,343 89,795

 

EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA 

The EBITDA of the Group (calculated adding gross profit, staff costs, outside services, change in 

operating provisions, allowances and write-downs and other operating income) was €52 million in 2024 and 

€60 million in 2023. 

Adjusted EBITDA of the Group (calculated eliminating the Inertia Effect, strikes, extraordinary 

provisions and termination benefits from EBITDA) was €57 million in 2024 and €66 million in 2023. Adjusted 

EBITDA presents lower EBITDA variations since only considers recurrent items.  

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are relevant values in the financials of the Group because revenues are 

not considered as representative of the profits as in other sectors. Since sales prices are negotiated using as a 

reference the scrap and alloys prices, the impact of scrap and alloys prices has a direct impact in the gross 

margin. If scrap and alloys prices increase over time, the acquisition price of the scrap and alloys will be lower 

than the scratch price taken as reference when the steel products are sold (the Inertia Effect). Therefore, adjusted 

EBITDA is usually considered to analyse a steel company's performance over a year. 
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As the person responsible for this Information Memorandum 

In Madrid, on 27 November 2025 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________________________________ 

Signed: Mr. José Antonio Jainaga Gómez 

Sidenor Aceros Especiales, S.L.U. 
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ANNEX 2 

AUDITED INDIVIDUAL AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 

ISSUER FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

PwC issued a qualified opinion in the auditor's report of the consolidated financial statements as of and 

for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the auditor's report of the individual financial statements of Sidenor 

of and for the year ended 31 December 2024. The auditor considers that the information on the remuneration 

accrued by the sole director of Sidenor during 2024 contained in note No. 23 of the consolidated financial 

statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2024 does not contain the information required by the 

sixth provision of article 48 of the Spanish Commercial Code, which reads as follows: 

“As stated in note 23 to the attached consolidated notes to the financial statements, the consolidated 

annual accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 incorporate the information required the sixth 

provision of article 48 of the Spanish Commercial Code in relation to the remuneration accrued during the year 

by the sole director and senior management executives, without such information being presented separately. 

The consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023 did not present this information in this 

manner either, and therefore our audit opinion on the consolidated annual accounts for that year contained a 

qualification in this regard.” 
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ANNEX 3 

AUDITED INDIVIDUAL AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 

ISSUER FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

PwC issued a qualified opinion in the auditor's report of the consolidated financial statements as of and 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the auditor's report of the individual financial statements of Sidenor 

of and for the year ended 31 December 2023. The auditor considers that the information on the remuneration 

accrued by the sole director of Sidenor during 2023 contained in note No. 23 of the consolidated financial 

statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2023 does not contain the information required by the 

sixth provision of article 48 of the Spanish Commercial Code, which reads as follows:  

“As stated in note 23 to the attached consolidated notes to the financial statements, the consolidated 

annual accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 incorporate the information required by the 

sixth provision of Article 48 of the Spanish Commercial Code in relation to the remuneration accrued during 

the year by the sole director and senior management executives, without such information being presented 

separately. The consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2022 did not present this 

information in this manner either, and therefore our audit opinion on the consolidated annual accounts for that 

year contained a qualification in this regard.” 
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